**RECEIVED**  
**Sep 16 2022**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Florence County

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CRAIG ANTONIO GEORGE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000581

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err in limiting cross-examination of the State's witness pursuant to Rule 610, SCRE, when the proposed questioning did not involve religious beliefs or opinions and was relevant as to the witness's credibility?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December of 2019, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Craig Antonio George, for kidnapping and criminal sexual conduct first degree, indictment # 2019-GS-21-01673. On May 14, 2021, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable D. Craig Brown. William Vickery Meetze represented Appellant at trial. David Richardson and John Jepertinger prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. Judge Brown sentenced Appellant to life in prison on both charges pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on May 24, 2021. This appeal follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“As a general rule, a trial court's ruling on the proper scope of cross-examination will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of discretion.” State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 450, 527 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429–30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006).

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge erred in limiting the cross-examination of the State's witness pursuant to Rule 610, SCRE, when the proposed questioning did not involve religious beliefs or opinions and was relevant as to the witness's credibility.**

The jury found Appellant guilty of kidnapping and sexual assault of his aunt. Prior to trial the State moved to prohibit defense counsel from questioning the aunt about books she wrote as questioning about religious beliefs and opinions prohibited by Rule 610, SCRE. (R. p. 7, lines 14-16). Defense counsel objected telling the judge:

I don't have any intention on questioning her with regards to any kind of religious beliefs or opinions. Obviously, that's a rule. I mean I agree with the rule as it's written. I think to question somebody as to whether or not they're a Christian or not a Christian or whatever and then express upon a jury that somebody is either telling the truth or not telling the truth based on a religious belief or opinion would be inappropriate, but what I would want to question her about would be a book or books that she wrote that are non-fiction books of things that she claimed to be absolute one hundred percent facts, and I think that's different from a belief or an opinion on religion.

So that would be my position, and I think it's a case that credibility is largely at issue in this case, and I think from that standpoint it's certainly very probative for the jury to hear. And again, I don't intend to ask anything with regards to any opinion or belief, just things that she has stated are absolute facts.

(R. p. 7, line 20 – p. 8, lines 1-13).

The prosecutor argued that the books were religious in nature and based on angels and the aunt's Christian faith. (R. p. 8, line 15 – p. 9, lines 1-18). The prosecutor told the judge, "And I believe based on that it falls within the scope of her belief system and would tend to be overly prejudicial toward her and I think would fall under Rule 610 in its application." (R. p. 8, lines 21-25). Defense counsel, reading from the introduction to the book, said, ". . . [T]he information I give you is fact and fiction gathered from original sources. The fictitious parts of this information center on the people who were involved, meaning she changed the names to protect some

identities.” (R. p. 9, lines 20-21). Defense counsel continued from the introduction of the book stating, “Even with that, many facts regarding them are included. Every word written from the angels is an absolute fact. Every word written as a quote from them is a word that they said exactly as they said in correct English - - incorrect English and all. I’m only camouflaging people with respect and to protect their privacy.” (R. p. 9, line 25 – p. 10, lines 1-5). Defense counsel then argued:

I don’t intend to ask her if she’s a Christian or not a Christian or if she believes in Jesus or doesn’t believe in Jesus or any of that, but, you know, she writes in this book that these things happened in the mid-90s, that angels came down, visited them, and inhabited a host body on this earth, spoke to them through this host body. That host body’s mouth was moving, but it was somebody else’s voice coming out, and she says all of this happened as a fact and that to me is not asking about her religion. It’s asking about an experience that she and other people that she knows had and she wrote about it.

(R. p. 10, lines 6-16).

When the judge asked about the purpose of the questioning defense counsel answered that it went to her credibility and then stated, “I think it goes to a very active imagination and I think that I think is – I think it goes to her credibility and I think that’s the primary issue in this case. And I think from that standpoint it should be admissible to ask her questions about that.” (R. p. 10, line 17 – p. 11, lines 1-8). Defense counsel then drew a distinction between a religious opinion and the questions he sought to ask telling the judge:

You know, in her book, for example, as an example of an opinion, she’s got a glossary section where she gives definitions. She defines a church as a place of deception, controlled by the illegal lords, Satan, the devil, so man may not know the truth that operates on – that it operates on, a pride of envy and greed.

To me, that’s an opinion. I wouldn’t ask about what her definition of a church is, but the things that she says happened as an absolute fact that she - - you know, I think would be admissible.

(R. p. 11, lines 9-18).

The trial judge referred to Rule 610, SCRE and then ruled stating, “I do believe such questioning would be prohibited under the rule. However, at the appropriate time, if you feel necessary, I’ll allow you to proffer whatever testimony you need, but I do not believe that it would be permissible under Rule 610.” (R. p. 11, line 25 – p. 12, lines 1-4). The judge heard other pre-trial motions and then the parties picked a jury and the proceedings adjourned for the day.

The next day the judge allowed the proffer and the State called the aunt as a witness. (R. p. 28, line 8 – p. 29, lines 1-11). Defense counsel asked her about the book she wrote, *Words from Awaki, the Third and Final Covenant*, volumes one and two. (R. p. 29, lines 14 – 25). The aunt confirmed that she wrote about angels visiting the universe in 1995-1996, specifically Baltimore, Maryland where she was living at the time. (R. p. 30, lines 5-17). She confirmed that she wrote about the angels communicating with 50-70 people during 40-45 sessions. (R. p. 30, line 18 – p. 31, lines 1-2). Defense counsel asked the aunt, “When one of these sessions would take place, the angel would come down and use somebody as a host, so to speak, to be able to communicate; correct?” (R. p. 31, lines 3-5). The aunt answered, “That’s correct.” (R. p. 31, line 6). The aunt confirmed that *Awaki* from the title of the book was one of the angels referred to. (R. p. 31, lines 7-9). The aunt was present for one of the sessions on March 30, 1996. (R. p. 31, lines 10-13). The aunt agreed that the sessions with the angels and what they said were one hundred percent fact. (R. p. 31, lines 21-24). The aunt agreed that in the book she changed the names of people involved to protect their identities. (R. p. 31, line 25 – p. 32, lines 1-4).

The aunt confirmed that she wrote about Thomas, as she referred to him in the book, giving his cousin, Nathaniel, as she referred to him in the book, a pinky ring that chanted. (R. p. 33, line 8 – p. 34, lines 1-2). The chanting pinky ring scared Nathaniel so he put the ring in the freezer and called Thomas. (R. p. 33, lines 19-21). The aunt testified that when Thomas went to investigate

the chanting ring, Nathaniel fainted and an angel named Shakardak invaded Nathaniel's body to speak to Thomas. (R. p. 34, line 9 – p. 35, lines 1-6). The aunt confirmed that she included in the book information that when the angel invaded Nathaniel's body, Nathaniel's mouth would move but it was not Nathaniel's voice they were hearing. (R. p. 35, lines 7-22).

When the State asked the aunt if her book was based on personal experience or information provided by others and recordings of the sessions the aunt answered, "I documented. I had one experience personally for about 30 or 45 minutes. (R. p. 37, lines 14-19). Counsel renewed the objection to being prohibited from questioning the aunt about the book stating:

Judge, I'll just reiterate that I think the rule - - what the rule encompasses and keeps you from doing is asking anyone about their religious beliefs or opinions. And I don't think anywhere in any of that line of questioning did I ask anybody's belief or opinion. So I don't think that this line of questioning with regards to the books that she wrote applied to that rule or that rule should apply to this - - to this line of questioning. So based on that, I'm just going to renew my motion.

(R. p. 38, lines 5-13).

The judge again found that questioning the aunt about the books she wrote was prohibited by Rule 610, SCRE, ruling:

In this particular situation, Dr. George [the aunt] has testified as to beliefs or opinions. She also testified as to fact. She said they were fact, but there's also evidence in the record that this information was conveyed to her by others, albeit she did have one experience. That she did have one experience. So evidence of -- and she believed it. She believed it.

So I think it is evidence of belief. Although defense counsel argues they are facts, they are still beliefs. She believes that those facts did, in fact, occur.

On matters of religion, we're talking about angels here, which the Court believes angels go hand-in-hand, so to speak, with religion. Certainly, in the Bible that everyone comes in here, places their hand on, and swears to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, there are many references throughout that Bible to angels. I'm not sure about other religions and their reference to angels, but do know that that Bible of which everyone comes in here and places their left hand on, raises their right hand, and swears to tell the truth, that there are a multitude of references throughout of angels in that Bible.

The Court further believes that the sole purpose in defense counsel's desire to bring this out is to show that by reason of their nature, their beliefs, their opinions, that the witness's credibility is impaired in this particular situation, which the rule prohibits.

Therefore, the Court's ruling remains the same, but with all due respect, the Court has allowed Mr. Meetze to proffer whatever testimony he felt like he needed to proffer to ensure that his client's interest was protected as it relates to that particular issue. So your objection is so noted.

(R. p. 39, line 7 – p. 40, lines 1-12). The trial judge erred.

The trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to allow Appellant to question the aunt about the books she wrote detailing her own experience as well as the experience of others witnessing angels invading host bodies and speaking through them. This type of questioning is not prohibited by Rule 610, SCRE, which makes evidence of beliefs or opinions of a witness on religious matters inadmissible. The aunt did not testify that the topics covered in her books involve her religion or religious beliefs. The fact that she discusses angels in the books is not sufficient to bring the questioning within the prohibition of Rule 610, as questioning about a religious belief or opinion. If the aunt had written about aliens, rather than angels, invading host bodies and speaking through them, Rule 610 would not have prohibited questioning. The limitation on cross-examination violated the right to confrontation guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment as well as due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment. The error is not harmless as the credibility of the aunt as the accuser was critical for the jury's determination. The State's evidence was not overwhelming and based predominantly on the testimony of the aunt. The error requires reversal.

Rule 610, SCRE, provides that, "Evidence of the beliefs or opinions of a witness on matters of religion is not admissible for the purpose of showing that by reason of their nature the witness' credibility is impaired or enhanced." The federal rule is substantially the same and provides that, "Evidence of a witness's religious beliefs or opinions is not admissible to attack or support the

witness's credibility.” Fed. R. Evid. 610. “The purpose of the rule is to guard against the prejudice which may result from disclosure of a witness's faith. The scope of the prohibition includes unconventional or unusual religions. See Government of Virgin Islands v. Petersen, 553 F.2d 324 (3rd Cir. 1977) (defense counsel could not elicit testimony that alibi witness was a member of the Rastafarian sect).” United States v. Sampol, 636 F.2d 621, 666 (D.C. Cir. 1980).

In the present case Appellant did not seek to ask the aunt about her faith or an unconventional or unusual religion. The aunt was not asked about her faith or religion. The prosecutor argued, “Judge, the basis or [sic] the books in question are religious in nature. They have to do with angels and the like and are premised upon, I guess, Dr. George’s [the aunt’s] Christian faith and her experiences and the experiences of other people primarily with respect to encounters with angels or the divine in some capacity.” (R. p. 8, lines 15-20). The aunt, however, never testified that the books were premised on her Christian faith or any other faith or religion. The aunt never testified that angel invasions were a part of her faith or religion, whatever that faith or religion might have been. Appellant was not seeking to elicit testimony that the aunt was a Rastafarian as in Petersen or devoted to the Luceme religion as in Sampol or a devil worshipper as in State v. Kimbrell, 320 N.C. 762, 360 S.E.2d 691 (1987). The proposed questioning about the contents of the books the aunt wrote was not prohibited by Rule 610 because the questioning was not about a religious belief or opinion. The trial judge erred in limiting the cross-examination.

Rule 611(b), SCRE, provides that, “A witness may be cross-examined on any matter relevant to any issue in the case, including credibility.” The credibility of the aunt as the accuser was critical for the jury’s determination as the State’s evidence was not overwhelming and based predominantly on the testimony of the aunt. The trial judge erred in prohibiting cross-examination

of the aunt about the books she wrote documenting purported conversations with angels who had invaded human bodies.

In State v. Jenkins, 322 S.C. 360, 474 S.E.2d 812, 814 (Ct. App. 1996), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

Generally, the right to cross-examine a prosecuting witness is of constitutional dimensions, being essential to a fair trial as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. State v. McCoy, 274 S.C. 70, 261 S.E.2d 159 (1979); see also State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 444 S.E.2d 525 (1994) (specifically included in a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses is the right to meaningful cross-examination of adverse witnesses); accord State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994). A criminal defendant states a violation of the Confrontation Clause by showing that he was prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias on the part of the witness, and thereby to expose to the jury the facts from which the jurors could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1435–36, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986); State v. Smith; State v. Graham.

In the present case the trial judge abused his discretion by refusing to allow Appellant to question the aunt accuser about books she wrote documenting purported conversations with angels who had invaded human bodies. The questioning was not prohibited by Rule 610, SCRE, as a religious opinion or belief. Appellant was prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-examination in violation of Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses as well as the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The error was not harmless.

In State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 375, 731 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

A violation of the Confrontation Clause is not per se reversible but is subject to a harmless error analysis. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986). Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors.... The factors include the *importance of the witness's testimony* in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was *cumulative*, the presence or absence of evidence *corroborating* or contradicting the testimony of


the witness on material points, the *extent of cross examination* otherwise permitted, and, of course, the *overall strength* of the prosecution's case. *Id.* at 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (emphasis added).

Applying the Van Arsdall factors in the present case, the error was not harmless. The aunt's testimony, as the accuser in a case with no forensic evidence, was critically important in the prosecution's case. The proffered testimony was not cumulative. There was little evidence corroborating the aunt's testimony. While there was no other limitation on cross-examination, Appellant was precluded from questioning the aunt about her book detailing conversations with angels who invaded human bodies. The questioning did not relate to religious beliefs protected by Rule 610, SCRE. Instead, the proposed line of questioning would show that the witness may have a tendency toward hallucinations or altered perceptions, fair topics for cross-examination. Again, if the books had been about conversations with aliens from another universe invading the bodies of humans or conversations with wildlife, questioning would be allowed pursuant to Rule 611(b), SCRE. The fact that the aunt wrote about angels, rather than aliens or wildlife, does not render the questioning about a religious belief or opinion that would be protected by Rule 610, SCRE.

The error is made more prejudicial by the State's closing argument when the prosecutor told the jury twice that the aunt operates with an "analytical mind." (R. p. 218, lines 14-15; p. 220, lines 2-3). Appellant was prohibited from questioning the aunt about her books where she wrote about conversations with angels who invaded human bodies, a fanciful rather than analytical purported event. The improper limitation on cross-examination violated the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses as well as the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The error was not harmless and requires reversal.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the above argument, this Court should reverse the convictions and remand for a new trial.

  
Kathrine H. Hudgins  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT