RECEIVED

Aug 31 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-000581

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CRAIG ANTONIO GEORGE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

EDGAR LEWIS CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

180 North Irby Street
MSC-Q
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by prohibiting Appellant from cross-examining the victim about her sincerely-held beliefs concerning angels because those beliefs were religious in nature and, thus, evidence of those beliefs was not admissible for the purpose of attacking the victim’s credibility based on the plain and unambiguous language of Rule 610 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by refusing to permit cross-examination of Victim concerning books she had written in which she discussed experiences with angels that invaded the bodies of “hosts” and communicated through them. As support for that contention, Appellant maintains such cross-examination was *not* prohibited by Rule 610 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence because it purportedly did not concern Victim’s faith or religion and, instead, merely showed she “may have a tendency toward hallucination or altered perceptions[.]” To the contrary, Victim’s beliefs about the existence of angels serving as messengers did, in fact, concern matters of religion, and, therefore, evidence of those beliefs was not admissible for the purpose of impugning Victim’s credibility based on the plain and unmistakable language of Rule 610. As a result, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by adhering to our state’s evidentiary rules and prohibiting Appellant from improperly cross-examining Victim on the impermissible and irrelevant subject of her sincerely-held religious beliefs. Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

Unquestionably, a defendant in South Carolina has both a state and federal constitutional right to defend against a criminal charge by confronting his or her accuser and cross-examining any adverse witnesses. U.S. Const. amend. VI; S.C. Const. art. I, § 14; see State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 330, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2002) (“The Sixth Amendment rights to notice, confrontation, and compulsory process guarantee that a criminal charge may be answered through the calling and interrogation of favorable witnesses, the cross-examination of adverse

witnesses, and the orderly introduction of evidence.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)). Nevertheless, the right to confrontation is *not* completely unfettered, and, instead, a trial judge may permissibly place reasonable limitations on the scope of cross-examination “based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness’ safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.” Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986); see State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 130, 644 S.E.2d 693, 698 (2007) (recognizing trial judges retain “wide latitude” to impose reasonable limits on cross-examination); State v. Williams, 432 S.C. 515, 522, 854 S.E.2d 166, 169 (Ct. App. 2021) (explaining the right to conduct meaningful cross-examination does *not* strip trial judges of their typical discretion to limit to the scope of cross-examination); see also State v. D’Alessio, 848 A.2d 1118, 1124 (R.I. 2004) (“The right to cross-examination does not include an unfettered license to ask any question that the defendant may desire.”).

Meanwhile, pursuant to the mandates of South Carolina’s evidentiary rules, “[e]vidence of the beliefs or opinions of a witness on matters of religion is *not* admissible for the purpose of showing that by reason of their nature the witness’ credibility is impaired or enhanced.” Rule 610, SCRE (emphasis added); cf. Fed. R. Evid. 610 (“Evidence of a witness’s religious beliefs or opinions is not admissible to attack or support the witness’s credibility.”). Significantly, Rule 610’s prohibition exists because a witness’s religious beliefs are generally irrelevant while inquiry into such beliefs carries a high potential of being improperly prejudicial or inflammatory. See State v. Heinz, 485 A.2d 1321, 1329 (Conn. App. Ct. 1984) (“The religious beliefs of a witness are generally not a proper subject of cross-examination for the purpose of impeaching her credibility. Such an inquiry is ordinarily irrelevant to the issues at hand, inflammatory and unduly prejudicial.” (citations omitted)); State v. Prokos, 631 N.E.2d 684, 689 (Ohio Ct. App.

1993) (“[A]ny line of questioning which attempts to discredit a witness based on his nationality, ethnic background, color, *religion*, or accent [is] repugnant to the principles of American law.” (emphasis added)). Accordingly, a trial judge should ordinarily not permit cross-examination of a witness concerning matters of religion unless relevant to some identifiable issue *other than* credibility. Rule 610, SCRE; see State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 34, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000) (recognizing a trial judge’s limitation of the scope of cross-examination to comply with the South Carolina Rules of Evidence constituted a proper exercise of discretion).

Notably, while no published appellate decisions have been issued in South Carolina interpreting our state’s version of Rule 610, the Florida District Court of Appeals—in Reeves v. State, 862 So. 2d 60, 60-61 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003)—addressed an issue concerning a strikingly-similar statutory provision. Compare Fla. Stat. Ann. § 90.611 (“Evidence of the beliefs or opinions of a witness on matters of religion is inadmissible to show that the witness’s credibility is impaired or enhanced thereby.”); with Rule 610, SCRE (“Evidence of the beliefs or opinions of a witness on matters of religion is not admissible for the purpose of showing that by reason of their nature the witness’ credibility is impaired or enhanced.”). In that case, Reeves was charged with a number of offenses against a minor victim, and, during trial, he sought to cross-examine his victim concerning statements she had previously made in an effort to impeach her credibility. Reeves, 862 So. 2d at 61. More specifically, Reeves sought to question the victim “about her statements . . . that when she told her mother what happened to her, *she saw Jesus standing in the room*, demons were cast out of her, and she rolled on the floor and ‘spit out the evil that [Reeves] . . . put in [her].’ ” Id. (emphasis added). Ultimately though, based on the clear language of Section 90.611 of the Florida Statutes, the trial judge refused to permit Reeves’s desired cross-examination, the jury convicted Reeves of a number of offenses, and

Reeves appealed. Id. at 60-61. On appeal, the Florida District Court of Appeals affirmed. Id. In doing so, the Florida District Court of Appeals noted Reeves’s self-acknowledged purpose for his desired cross-examination of the victim was “so the jury would find the victim’s experiences and practices so unusual that it would consider them ‘fantasy,’ thereby impairing the victim’s credibility.” Id. at 61. However, the Florida District Court of Appeals explained: “Even though [Reeves] considered seeing Jesus to be so unconventional or unusual so as to be ‘fantasy,’ section 90.611 does not permit evidence to be admitted that discussed the witness’s practice of ‘unconventional or unusual religion.’ ” Id. (citations omitted). Accordingly, the Florida District Court of Appeals found the trial judge correctly prohibited Reeves’s desired cross-examination of the victim. Id.

In the case sub judice, Appellant sought for his victim’s credibility to be attacked based on her sincerely-held beliefs regarding the existence of angels, which Appellant—apparently not personally holding the same beliefs—characterizes as “fanciful.” But just as the trial judge recognized, angels—by their very definition—unmistakably relate to religion and religious beliefs. See New Oxford American Dictionary 59 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining “angel” as “a spiritual being believed to act as an attendant, agent, or messenger of God, conventionally represented in human form with wings and a long robe”). Demonstrating that fact, angels are referenced throughout the Bible, including in verses in which angels are described as visiting people and delivering messages to them. See, e.g., Luke 1:26-28 (New International Version) (“In the sixth month of Elizabeth’s pregnancy, God sent the angel Gabriel to Nazareth, a town in Galilee, to a virgin pledged to be married to a man named Joseph, a descendant of David. The virgin’s name was Mary. The angel went to her and said, ‘Greetings, you who are highly favored! The Lord is with you.’ ”). Similarly, in Islamic theology, “[b]elief in angels is one of

the main articles of faith[.]” Wikipedia, “Angels in Islam,” available at https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Angels_in_Islam&oldid=1100793931; see also Harold J. Berman, Law and Logos, 44 DePaul L. Rev. 143, 147-148 (1994) (“[I]n Islam, there is at least a weak belief in a holy spirit, which is identified with those angels—especially Gabriel—through whom God communicates with his human family.” (footnote omitted)). Likewise, an in-person visit from an angel was described as playing a pivotal role in the founding of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints. See, e.g., Jon Krakauer, Under the Banner of Heaven: A Story of Violent Faith 59-64 (1st Anchor Books ed. 2004) (recounting the story of the creation of the Book of Mormon, the “sacred touchstone and guiding scripture” of the Latter Day Saint religious movement, and noting Joseph Smith, the religious movement’s founder, claimed to have translated the book from solid golden plates after he was visited by an angel named Moroni, who was sent to him by God to lead him to the sacred text inscribed on the plates). Therefore, Victim’s beliefs regarding decades-old encounters with angels—which, by defense counsel’s own admission, were discussed in writings that also referenced other religious matters such as church and Satan—did relate to “matters of religion,” and, as a result, Rule 610 expressly prohibited evidence of those beliefs from being introduced in an attempt to impugn Victim’s credibility. Rule 610, SCRE; see also Gov’t of the Virgin Islands v. Petersen, 553 F.2d 324, 328 (3d Cir. 1977) (affirming the district court judge’s decision to exclude testimony concerning a witness’s Rastafarian beliefs and noting Rule 610 of the Federal Rules of Evidence—which is virtually identical to Rule 610 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence—“clearly” prohibits the use of such testimony for credibility purposes); cf. People v. Calloway, 446 N.W.2d 870, 872 (Mich. Ct. App. 1989) (“Under the statute [which prohibits any witness from being questioned about opinions on religion] as written, *there is little room for discussion.*” (emphasis added)).

Because Rule 610’s plain language prohibited the exact type of cross-examination Appellant wished to engage in, the trial judge committed no conceivable error by faithfully adhering to that straightforward evidentiary rule and restricting the scope of cross-examination. Rule 610, SCRE; see State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 225, 284 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1981) (instructing “the cross-examination of a witness to test his credibility is largely within the discretion of the trial judge”); cf. United States v. Jorell, 73 M.J. 878, 883 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 2014) (“[The defense’s] fundamental argument was that [the victim]’s beliefs were so ridiculous that they were evidence of her being out of touch with reality and unworthy of belief. The defense was attempting to use the witness’s faith or religious beliefs to create a prejudice against her so she would not be believed when she testified as to what the appellant had done to her. This is precisely the sort of evidence not allowed under Mil. R. Evid. 610.”). And, by doing so, the trial judge—consistent with the very reason Rule 610 exists—prudently prevented any possibility of prejudice resulting from the irrelevant subject of religious beliefs being broached during trial, including the prejudice that could have potentially resulted *to Appellant* if any of the jurors shared the same personal beliefs regarding angels Appellant wished to assail.⁸ See People v. Wood, 488 N.E.2d 86, ___ (N.Y. 1985) (explaining attempts to discredit or penalize a witness because of the witness’s religious belief are improper because such a factor is “irrelevant to the issue of credibility”); cf. United States v. Sampol, 636 F.2d 621, 666 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (“Rule 610 bans the admission of evidence of the religious beliefs of a witness for the purpose of showing that his credibility is impaired as a result of those beliefs. The purpose of the rule is to guard against the prejudice which may result from disclosure of a witness’s faith. The scope of the

⁸ Certainly, there can be no doubt at least *some* jurors in South Carolina possess sincerely-held religious beliefs. See, e.g., State v. Kelly, 331 S.C. 132, 140, 502 S.E.2d 99, 103 (1998) (“Two other members of the jury indicated they were reading their Bibles on their own.”).

prohibition *includes unconventional or unusual religions.*” (emphasis added and footnote omitted)); People v. Jones, 267 N.W.2d 433, 436 (Mich. Ct. App. 1978) (“The statute expressly states that questions as to religious opinions are not permissible. The purpose of the statute is to strictly avoid any possibility that jurors will be prejudiced against a certain witness because of personal disagreements with the religious views of that witness. This object recognizes the deep personal feelings many people hold on religion, feelings that may unavoidably conflict with a juror’s sworn duty to decide solely on the evidence presented, without injection of personal prejudices.”); Commonwealth v. Greenwood, 413 A.2d 655, 657 (Pa. 1980) (reversing Greenwood’s conviction based on the prosecutor’s cross-examination concerning Greenwood’s religious beliefs because such questioning was irrelevant, tended to distract the jurors from the pertinent question to be resolved in the case, and “created an aroma not conducive to a fair trial”). Furthermore, by doing so, the trial judge wisely kept the focus of the trial on the actual pertinent issue—what occurred in Florence, South Carolina, on the date of the incident—as opposed to on the tangential and irrelevant issue of what truly happened decades earlier in Baltimore, Maryland, during “sessions” that had *nothing* to do with Appellant or the acts for which he was on trial. See United States v. Kalaydjian, 784 F.2d 53, 57 (2d. Cir. 1986) (“[E]xtensive questioning on the collateral issue of [a witness]’s religious beliefs might have confused the jury and distracted its attention from the principal task of determining whether appellants had conspired to deal in heroin.”); cf. United States v. Maynes, 880 F.3d 110, 115 (4th Cir. 2018) (concluding the district court judge did not abuse his discretion by preventing defense counsel from eliciting “tangential testimony” from the victims for purposes of impeachment and noting “allowing such testimony ran the risk that the focus of the trial would shift from Maynes’s activity to the victims’ past lives”); Jorell, 73 M.J. at 884 (“The defense did not tie [the victim]’s

beliefs to her ability to perceive or recall the events at issue, nor did [the victim]’s beliefs impact her motivation or ability to truthfully testify. In short, even if [the victim]’s belief were held to be farfetched in one area of her life, there was no showing that these beliefs translated to her testimony about the events in question.”).

Accordingly, just like the trial judge in Reeves, the trial judge in Appellant’s case did not abuse his broad discretion—manifestly or otherwise—by adhering to the mandates of the applicable evidentiary rule and prohibiting an attack on a witness’s credibility based purely on the witness’s sincerely-held beliefs on matters of religion. See Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 34, 538 S.E.2d at 255 (“The trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting the scope of cross-examination to comply with the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.”); see also State v. Swilling, 249 S.C. 541, 553, 155 S.E.2d 607, 614 (1967) (“[T]he trial court has broad discretion in determining the general range and extent of cross examination, subject to the limitation that the inquiry must relate to matters pertinent to the issue, or to such as tend to affect the credibility and veracity of the witness; and the exercise of such discretion will not be disturbed except in cases of manifest abuse or injustice.”); State v. Whatley, 407 S.C. 460, 466, 756 S.E.2d 393, 396 (Ct. App. 2014) (“As a general rule, a trial court’s ruling on the proper scope of cross-examination will not be disturbed on appeal absent a manifest abuse of discretion.”); cf. Reeves, 862 So. 2d at 61 (“Even though [Reeves] considered seeing Jesus to be so unconventional or unusual so as to be ‘fantasy,’ section 90.611 does not permit evidence to be admitted that discussed the witness’s practice of ‘unconventional or unusual religion.’ ” (citations omitted)). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.